I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The Petitioner is Craig S. Culbertson ("Culbertson"), the 

appellant, and the plaintiff in the proceedings below. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision dated November 3, 2015, 

in the Court of Appeals, Case No. 32702-7-III ("the Decision"). 1 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the Decision conflict with this Court's holding in Swanson 

v. Liquid Air Corp., 118 Wn.2d 512 (1992), that the employer's 

disclaimers in its handbook are negated by inconsistent promises 

of specific treatment in specific situations? 

2. Can an "at will" employer unilaterally modify a compensation 

agreement formed by an exchange of promises which provides the 

independent consideration to support a restrictive covenant? 

3. Does the doctrine of judicial estoppel prevent an "at will" 

employer from making inconsistent assertions in two different 

judicial proceedings that the compensation agreement arose from 

an exchange of promises, and that the compensation agreement is 

an unilateral agreement which the employer can later modify 

upon reasonable notice? 

1 Reproduced as Appendix, A -1. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. PROMISES OF SPECIFIC TREATMENT IN SPECIFIC 
SITUATIONS. 

The Decision completely ignores and omits any citation to the 

record regarding the language in the Wells Fargo Insurance Services 

USA, Inc. ("Wells Fargo") Handbook2 which contains promises of 

specific treatment in specific situations. 

a. The Opportunity To Use Internal Problem-Solving 
Resources And The Dispute Resolution Process. 

The Wells Fargo 2006 Handbook makes the specific promise to 

provide "each team member" the "opportunity to use internal problem-

solving resources" for "any work-related problem," "when they're 

needed." CP 634. 

At Wells Fargo we feel it's essential to provide team members 
with a prompt, fair review o(any work-related problem. So, we've 
developed a process through which each team member has an 
opportunity to use internal problem-solving resources. 

Although we can't guarantee that every team member will always 
be satisfied with the outcome, we can make sure that all team 
members have dispute resolution methods available when they're 
needed .... 

If you need alternatives or to escalate your dispute further, you 
can follow the process outlined below. It's strongly recommended 
you use these resources in the order they're shown here ... . 

The process stops at any point you decide to discontinue it, or 
when you've exhausted all the resources described here. 

CP 634-635. 

After speaking with your supervisor, if you feel you haven't been 
able to communicate effectively with him or her-or if you want 

2 Reproduce excerpts as Appendix, A-2 
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someone else to review the situation-you can meet with your 
supervisor's manager (or another manager above your supervisor 
in the chain o[reporting relationships) to discuss the issue. 
Again, if you prefer, you can also contact your HR consultant and 
ask him or her to facilitate the meeting with your supervisor's 
manager, or to help you prepare for the meeting. 

CP 635 (emphasis added). 

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook describes in detail the dispute 

resolution process. CP 634-636. The "process" begins with speaking 

with your supervisor or another manager above your supervisor. CP 

635. The "process" also states, "you can contact your HR consultant." CP 

635. The next step in the "process" allows the employee to contact "your 

Employee Relations consultant." 

Employee Relations consultants review disputes from an objective 
position and act in a consultative role to help resolve work-related 
issues. Your Employee Relations consultant will work with your 
HR consultant to obtain related infOrmation in order to review the 
matter and make recommendations to you or your group's 
management. if appropriate. 

CP 635 (emphasis added). 

It is undisputed that at the end of Culbertson's surprise and short 

meeting with his branch manager and the Wells Fargo investigator they 

fired him, and escorted him out the door. CP 142-143. Wells Fargo never 

afforded Culbertson the opportunity to meet with anyone else in Wells 

Fargo's management reporting chain or anyone in an objective position to 

assist him in obtaining any related information to rebut the serious 

accusations his branch manager leveled against him. CP 142-143. 

Wells Fargo's 2006 Handbook, Section 4.6, titled "Third Party 

PETITION FOR REVIEW -- 3 



Representation" makes the following promise summarizing the dispute 

resolution process: 

We respect your right to communicate directly, on an individual 
basis, with your supervisor, manager, or HR consultant about any 
o[the terms or conditions o(your employment .... 

If you encounter any problems on the job, bring your concerns to 
your supervisor, manager, or HR consultant. They're willing to 
discuss any work-related problem with you on a direct, person-to
person basis. 

CP 636 (emphasis added). 

Wells Fargo completely ignored Culbertson's "right" to 

communicate on an individual basis with another manager in the 

reporting chain or with his HR consultant and his Employee Relations 

consultant about the serious accusations leveled against him before and 

after his termination. CP 142-144. The record undisputedly shows that 

Wells Fargo never, at any time, made any dispute resolution resources 

available to Culbertson. CP 142-144. Culbertson never had the 

opportunity to decide when to discontinue the dispute process-because 

Wells Fargo prevented Culbertson from starting the dispute resolution 

process. CP 142-144. 

b. The Specific Promise To Review The Termination Decision 
"From An Objective Position." 

The Wells Fargo 2006 Handbook makes the specific promise to 

review termination decisions by "your HR consultant" and "if necessary it 

can be referred to Employees Relations." CP 636, 688. 

Review of Termination. If your employment is terminated 
involuntarily and you want to have that decision reviewed, 
contact your HR consultant as soon as possible following the 
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termination. Once your HR consultant has reviewed the 
matter, if necessary it can be escalated to Employee Relations. 
They'll determine whether a further review is warranted based 
on the circumstances-and if so, they'll conduct one. (See 
"Dispute Resolution" on page 44.) 

CP 636 (emphasis added). See also CP 688. 

No representative from the Wells Fargo HR Department or any 

other manager in the Wells Fargo reporting chain contacted Culbertson in 

response to his February 3, 2014, letter, requesting a written statement as 

to the reasons for his discharge. CP 144-145. Instead, Culbertson's 

former supervisor who fired him mailed a letter to Culbertson dated 

February 14, 2014, repeating the same unspecified and unsubstantiated 

allegations made by the Wells Fargo investigator that Culbertson had 

falsified records. CP 144-45, 158-59. 

After Wells Fargo fired Culbertson, Wells Fargo did not respond 

to his February 27, 2014, letter requesting a review of the decision to 

terminate his employment at Wells Fargo. CP 145. 

c. Inconspicuous Disclaimers. 

The disclaimers buried in Wells Fargo's 189 page 2006 

Handbook are not "conspicuous." CP 585-733. The disclaimer language 

is not set out in large font, bold, capitalized, underlined, or italicized 

print, nor is it set out on separate pages. CP 585-733. There is nothing to 

make the disclaimers obvious to the eye or mind. There is nothing to 

attract attention to the disclaimers in order to make them noticeable. CP 

585-733. 
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2. POST-TERMINATION COMMISSIONS. 

On November 1, 2006, Culbertson signed a job offer letter from 

Acordia/Wells Fargo setting forth the terms of his compensation, which 

included broker commissions for new and renewed business. CP 4 7, 56-

57, 429, 561-562. Nothing in the job offer letter to Culbertson stated that 

Culbertson would not be paid commissions on his sales after his 

employment at Wells Fargo terminated. CP 47, 56-57, 429, 561-562. On 

November 1, 2006, Culbertson also signed a Trade Secrets Agreement 

(TSA) which included a provision prohibiting Culbertson from soliciting 

business from his former Wells Fargo customers for two (2) years after 

the termination of his employment. CP 47-48, 59-62, 575-578. 

On or about December 22,2009, Wells Fargo's Spokane Branch 

Manager, Mark Neupert, presented Culbertson with a single-page 

document titled "WFIS Producer Plan Appendix A Participant Draw and 

Commission Rates" ("20 10 Producer Plan")3
, and told Culbertson, 

"Here's your new comp plan." CP 9, 28, 48, 49, 64, 429, 565. No other 

documents were attached to, enclosed with, or accompanied the 2010 

Producer Plan when the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Manager presented 

the 2010 Producer Plan to Culbertson for his signature. CP 48, 64, 429, 

565. On December 22, 2009, Culbertson accepted, by his signature, the 

single-page 2010 Producer Plan agreement setting forth the terms of his 

compensation, which were the same commission rates as upon his hire. 

CP 9, 28, 48-49, 64, 429, 565. 

3 Reproduced as Appendix, A-3. 
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In the 2010 Producer Plan, Wells Fargo promised to pay 

Culbertson commissions for "new business" and "renewal business." CP 

64. Wells Fargo also promised in the 2010 Producer Plan to pay 

Culbertson a one-time payment of additional commissions on top of his 

regular commissions for calendar year 2010 as "consideration for signing 

a new TSA." CP 48-49, 64, 429, 565. Wells Fargo's representatives 

signed the 2010 Producer Plan agreement on January 14, 2010. CP 48-49, 

64, 429, 565. 

There was no provision in the 2010 Producer Plan specifying how 

Wells Fargo would pay commissions after the termination of 

Culbertson's employment. CP 49, 64, 429, and 565. Additionally, 

although the 2010 Producer Plan promised a one-time payment of 

additional commissions in 2010, there was no specific duration to the 

2010 Producer Plan terminating the parties' obligations under the 

agreement on a certain date. CP 49, 64, 429, and 565. 

On January 5, 2010, Culbertson signed the "Wells Fargo 

Agreement Regarding Trade Secrets, Confidential Information, Non

Solicitation, and Assignment of Inventions" ("20 10 TSA"). CP 66-68, 

429, 566-568. The 2010 TSA introduction states, "In consideration of 

my continued employment by a Wells Fargo company ... , the ability to 

participate in a new compensation plan containing new and additional 

benefits which include, but are not limited to, a guaranteed draw and an 

increased commission percentage for new revenue and net new revenue 
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generated in 2010, I agree as follows: .... " CP 66, and 566. 

The 2010 TSA was similar to the TSA signed by Culbertson upon 

his hire in 2006, but the 2010 TSA included an additional provision 

which restricted Culbertson from both soliciting and accepting business 

from former Wells Fargo clients for two (2) years after his employment 

ended. CP 59-62, 66-68, 566-568, 575-578. 

The 2010 TSA signed by Culbertson on January 5, 2010, 

contained no language expressly specifying how commissions would be 

paid after Culbertson's employment at Wells Fargo terminated. CP 50, 

66-68, 566-568. 

On November 22, 2011, Culbertson accepted a single-page 

agreement titled "WFIS Sales Incentive Plan Appendix A Participant 

Draw and Commission Rates" ("2011 Incentive Plan")4 by signing it. CP 

10, 28, 50-51,70,429, 569. No other documents were attached to, 

enclosed with, or accompanied, the single-page 2011 Incentive Plan 

when the Wells Fargo Spokane Branch Manager handed it to Culbertson 

for signature. CP 51. 

On November 29, 2011, Wells Fargo accepted the 2011 Incentive 

Plan agreement by signing it. CP 50-51, 70, 429, 569. 

There was no provision in the 2011 Incentive Plan specifying how 

Wells Fargo would pay commissions after the termination of 

Culbertson's employment. CP 50-51, 70,429, 569. The 2011 Producer 

Plan promised to pay Culbertson the same commissions promised in the 

4 Reproduced as Appendix, A-4. 
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2010 Producer Plan, including the one-time additional commissions in 

2010 as "consideration for signing a new TSA;" however, the 2011 

Incentive Plan added a one-time "Grandfathered Incidentals" payment to 

Culbertson for $1,956.60. CP 50-51, 70,429, 569. Just like the 2010 

Producer Plan, the 2011 Incentive Plan contained no specific duration 

which terminated the parties' obligations under the agreement on a 

certain date. CP 51-52, 70,429, 569. 

The 2011 Incentive Plan agreement contained the following 

language in the bottom, left-hand comer: "Effective October 1, 2011." 

CP 51-52, 70, 429, 569. 

During the course of his entire employment at Wells Fargo, 

Culbertson never received a printed copy of, nor read an electronic copy 

of any document titled or represented to him as the "Wells Fargo 

Insurance Services USA, Inc. Insurance Brokerage Sales Incentive Plan 

Effective April], 2013" ("2013 Sales Incentive Plan"). CP 142. 

After Wells Fargo fired Culbertson on February 3, 2014, Wells 

Fargo refused to pay Culbertson commissions for broker fees from the 

sales of annual employee benefits accounts which Culbertson opened 

and/or renewed before Wells Fargo fired him. CP 12, 30, 52, 53, 72, 

518-519, 526-527,529-531. Wells Fargo successfully moved Spokane 

County Superior Court (Judge Michael Price) to dismiss Culbertson's 

breach of employment contract claim by asserting that the compensation 

agreement between Wells Fargo and Culbertson was "at will;" and as 
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such, Wells Fargo could unilaterally modify it by electronically rolling 

out the 2013 Sales Incentive Plan, which contained a provision limiting 

payment of post-termination commissions. CP 483-489,496-500, 1042-

1053, 1080-1081, 1098-1105. 

3. WELLS FARGO'S INCONSISTENT ASSERTIONS IN 
OTHER PROCEEDINGS. 

On March 21, 2014, Wells Fargo filed a separate lawsuit against 

Culbertson, in a different department of the Spokane County Superior 

Court, to enforce the 2010 TSA against Culbertson. CP 109-130. In its 

lawsuit, Wells Fargo successfully argued to the superior court (Judge 

Annette Plese) that the 2010 TSA was enforceable against Culbertson by 

asserting that the exchange of promises contained in the 2010 Producer 

Plan provided the independent consideration to support the enforcement 

ofthe restrictive covenants in the 2010 TSA. CP 227-303. RP 1-18. 

Wells Fargo's counsel successfully asserted in its lawsuit that the 

restrictive covenants in the 2010 TSA were enforceable because the 

exchange of promises in the 20 1 0 Producer Plan to pay Culbertson a one 

percent extra commissions in 2010 if he signed a new TSA provided the 

necessary independent consideration5
. 

The TSA itself and the Appendix to the Wells Fargo Producer Plan 
provides an increase in commission, specifically in consideration 
for the non-acceptance/non-solicitation 2010 TSA. (Complaint 
Exs. 1 and 2) That increased 1% in commissions was not an 
existing obligation of Wells Fargo, nor an existing benefit for 
Culbertson prior to his agreement to enter into the 2010 TSA. The 

5 Excerpts of Wells Fargo's assertions in Wells Fargo v. Craig Culbertson, Spokane 
County Superior Court Case No. 14-2-01021-9 reproduced as Appendix, A-5. 
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bargained for exchange o(promises was an increase in 
commission for entering into the new agreement. 

CP 239 (emphasis added). 

The express terms of [20 10 Producer Plan] Appendix A and the 
2010 TSA establish that consideration/or the 2010 TSA was 
offered and accepted by Culbertson, in the form of increased 
commissions of 1%, which he was in fact paid. 

CP 245 (emphasis added). 

{T}he 2010 TSA 's consideration was the additional]% 
commissions which was established in [20 10 Producer Plan] 
Appendix A Culbertson signed .... 

CP 250 (emphasis added). 

He received and signed [2010 Producer Plan] Appendix A, which 
despite his continued protestations, indeed contained the specific 
terms for "TSA Consideration," which increased his compensation 
by 1% on new revenue and 1% on net new revenue for a single 
year period if he signed the "new TSA." That consideration was 
again referenced in the 2010 TSA which Culbertson signed 14 
days later. Culbertson accepted the additional 1% commissions 
when he signed the 2010 TSA, and thereafter received the 
additional 1% commissions. These facts establish the appropriate 
additional consideration independent of Wells Fargo's previous 
agreements with Culbertson, and satisfy Washington law rendering 
the 2010 enforceable .... 

CP 250-251. 

Culbertson has made various claims, but has not presented any 
specific facts which rebut the fact that he received [20 10 Producer 
Plan] Appendix A which identified an offer of additional 
consideration for the "new TSA" in return for signing it, and he 
indeed signed the new 2010 TSA, accepting that consideration, 
which he was paid .... 

The only issue of law before the court is whether independent 
consideration existed as a matter of law for the 2010 TSA . .. Only 
[2010 Producer Plan] Appendix A, which Culbertson signed, 
contained the offer of consideration under the heading "TSA 
Consideration. " By its terms, the consideration offered was 1% on 
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new revenue, and 1% on new net revenue, which "participant will 
receive .. .for signing the new TSA." 

CP 262-63 (emphasis added). 

The [2010 Producer Plan] appendix is merely saying we're 
offering, we 're telling you if want to sign this, we are going to give 
you additional consideration, more money. Culbertson had that 
choice. He signed it. He got it. 

CP 284. RP 12. (emphasis added). 

They said hey, we're going to offer you this. We're promising, 
obligating ourself If you sign a new TSA, we 'II give you one 
percent on your revenue, one percent on new net revenue. He 
signed it. He got paid it. He 's obligated by the contract, and that's 
Washington law. No Washington law says that's not valid and 
enforceable. 

CP 287. PR 15. (emphasis added). 

He signed a legally enforceable document, essentially a covenant 
not to compete. Washington enforces those. Ifthey're signed 
midstream, they have to have independent consideration. 

There's no question before this Court there was an obligation of 
promise and offer made that we 'II pay you if you sign this. He 
signed it. They paid him. He 's now under the terms he promises 
he 'II abide by .... 

CP 288-89. RP 16-17. (emphasis added). 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S 
HOLDING IN SWANSON V. LIQUID AIR CORP., 118 
WN.2d 512 (1992), THAT THE EMPLOYER'S 
DISCLAIMERS IN ITS HANDBOOK ARE NEGATED BY 
INCONSISTENT PROMISES OF SPECIFIC TREATMENT 
IN SPECIFIC SITUATIONS. 

The State of Washington Supreme Court has held that employers 

are not entitled to use their employee handbooks to speak out of both 

sides of their mouths. "An employer's inconsistent representations can 
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negate the effect of a disclaimer ... . "Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp., 118 

Wn.2d 512, 532 (1992). "We reject the premise that this disclaimer can, 

as a matter of law, effectively serve as an eternal escape hatch for an 

employer who may then make whatever unenforceable promises of 

working conditions it is to its benefit to make." /d. "First and most 

importantly, an employer is not entitled to make extensive promises as to 

working conditions-promises which directly benefit the employer in that 

employees are likely to carry out their jobs satisfactorily with promises of 

assured working conditions-and then ignore those promises as 

illusory." Id. at 536 (emphasis added). "We note that even ifa disclaimer 

appears in the same handbook as the relied upon policy, summary 

judgment may be inappropriate." /d. at 535 (emphasis added). "It would 

be inconsistent with Thompson [v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219 

(1984)] and its progeny to conclude that once an application containing 

an at-will provision is signed, the employer is thereafter free to make 

whatever promises it wishes to make without any obligation to carry 

them out." Korslundv. DynCorp Tri-Cities Servs., 156 Wn.2d 168, 188 

(2005). 

"We hold that the questions ofreasonable notice and of 

applicability and effectiveness ofthe disclaimer involve issues ofmaterial 

fact which must be decided by the trier offact." Swanson, 118 Wn.2d. at 

538. (emphasis added). 

Moreover, the disclaimers in Wells Fargo's Handbook are not 
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conspicuous, and therefore do not meet the minimum requirements to be 

effective. !d. at 527. 

The Decision does not make a single citation or reference to 

Swanson. Other than the disclaimer, the Decision does not make a single 

citation, or reference to the record supporting the conclusion of law that 

"reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion ... the handbook stated 

a process that both sides could agree to use, but did not require either side 

to do so." Decision p. 8. Instead, the Decision quotes at length the 

Handbook's disclaimer language. 

By focusing only on the disclaimer language in the Handbook,

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