Supreme Court Case No. 92572-1 Court of Appeals No. 32702-7-III Superior Court No. 14-2-01009-0 RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 04, 2016, 2:38 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

f-,

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CRAIG S. CULBERTSON,

Appellant,

vs.

WELLS FARGO INSURANCE SERVICES USA, INC.; JOSHUA TYNDELL and JANE DOE; and RHONDA IDE and JOHN DOE,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCOTT A. GINGRAS, WSBA No. 43886 WINSTON & CASHATT, LAWYERS, a Professional Service Corporation 601 W. Riverside, Ste. 1900 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509)838-6131 E-Mail: sag@winstoncashatt.com Attorneys for Respondents

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

Culbertson's supervisor Tyndell also sent out an e-mail on October 29, 2013, to all Spokane sales executive employees, including Culbertson, which provided an online link to the compensation plan document, and instructed employees to "take time to review this document." (CP 431, 1029) Culbertson received this notice of the 2013 comp plan. (CP 432, 1029-1031, 1033)

- 5 -

The April 1, 2013 comp plan specified in relevant part that: (1) it superseded any prior plan(s) or agreements regarding compensation; (2) it did not create an employment contract, nor alter the at-will relationship; (3) it would be applied and the employee would be paid in accordance with its terms even if the employee did not sign it; and (4) how/when commissions were paid if an employee was terminated. (CP 1022-1027)

4. Culbertson's termination.

On February 3, 2014, Culbertson's employment was terminated by Wells Fargo for falsification of company records.⁴ (CP 10, 28) After Culbertson's termination, Culbertson's post-termination compensation was paid by Wells Fargo pursuant to the 2013 comp plan. (CP 432-433, 518-519, 526-527, 529-531, 550-551)

5. The companion case not on Appeal.

Contemporaneous to the filing of the Complaint by Culbertson, Wells Fargo filed a separate lawsuit against Culbertson, seeking in part to enforce the 2010 TSA. (CP 109-131) In that case, Culbertson alleged as one of his defenses that the 2010 TSA was not valid and enforceable against him for lack of independent consideration. (CP 513)

⁴ Culbertson judicially admitted that his employment with Wells Fargo was at all times "at-will;" therefore, it is irrelevant whether Culbertson's termination was with or without cause, and with or without advance notice. (CP 506)

Wells Fargo filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in that case, which was granted; the trial court ruled that as a matter of law the 2010 TSA Culbertson signed was valid and supported by independent consideration. (CP 295, 299-303)

In that case, Wells Fargo *never* contended that the 2010 Producer Plan was limited to the one page Appendix A; that Culbertson's signature on Appendix A was relevant to the determination of the validity of the 2010 TSA; nor that the 2010 Producer Plan and Appendix A was an "exchange of promises" or a "bilateral contract," not subject to unilateral modification by Wells Fargo. The exchange of consideration related solely to the 2010 TSA. (CP 239-240)

In its briefing, Wells Fargo argued plainly that "Culbertson accepted the additional 1% commissions when he signed the 2010 TSA, and thereafter received the additional 1% commissions. These facts establish the appropriate additional consideration independent of Wells Fargo's previous agreements with Culbertson, and satisfy Washington law rendering the 2010 TSA enforceable." (CP 251) All references to "it" and the "new agreement" made by Wells Fargo in that case concerned the 2010 TSA, and not the Producer Plan and Appendix A.

In oral argument, Wells Fargo also made clear that Appendix A was simply notice of the additional consideration for the 2010 TSA:

- 7 -

Again, Appendix A is to the comp plan, and it says in there it's giving him notice that purchaser will receive the following consideration for signing the new TSA. One percent on new revenue and additional one percent on net new revenue. He's not getting that for signing the comp plan or Appendix A.

(RP 5-6, 11, CP 277-278, 283) (emphasis added)

D. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

The decision of the Court of Appeals affirming summary dismissal of Culbertson's claims is not in conflict with existing Washington law, and involves no issues of substantial public interest; therefore, review should be denied. See, RAP 13.4(b).

1. The decision that the Wells Fargo Handbook did not contain promises of specific treatment does not conflict with <u>Swanson</u> or <u>Korslund</u>.

The unanimous Division III decision that the Wells Fargo Handbook did not, as a matter of law, provide promises of specific treatment in specific circumstances, is not at odds with either of the factspecific Washington Supreme Court cases <u>Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.</u>, 118 Wn.2d 512, 826 P.2d 664 (1992), or <u>Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities</u> <u>Servs.</u>, 156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005). Both <u>Swanson</u> and <u>Korslund</u> acknowledge that it is proper for a trial court to decide the pertinent issues as a matter of law on summary judgment. <u>Korslund</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 185; <u>Swanson</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 522. Examination of the record here and the rulings in both <u>Swanson</u> and <u>Korslund</u> illustrate that Culbertson's reliance on those two cases is wrong.

First, <u>Swanson</u> involved an issue between two contradictory written employment materials. The first was an existing employee manual which stated that the employees' employment was at-will, and contained a disclaimer. The second was a later drafted "Memorandum of Working Conditions," which stated that in certain circumstances "at least one warning *shall* be given" prior to termination. <u>Swanson</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 516 (emphasis added). The Memorandum did not contain a disclaimer, at-will language, or provide any discretion to the employer in applying the policy.

The court in <u>Swanson</u> held that because the two documents were inconsistent, and the Memorandum was drafted after the employment manual, genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether the employer made a promise of specific treatment in specific circumstances when it wrote that it "shall" not discharge plaintiff without at least one prior warning. <u>Swanson</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 519. Because of the inconsistency, the court also concluded that the effect of the employer's disclaimer was an issue to be determined by the trier of fact. <u>Id</u>.

Here, unlike <u>Swanson</u>, there is only one written document on which Culbertson relies for his claim: the Handbook, which does not any contain contradictory or inconsistent language with respect to terminating Culbertson's at-will employment. Nowhere in the Handbook does it state that Wells Fargo "shall," "will," or "must" do (or not do) anything specific to terminate Culbertson's at-will employment. In fact, directly distinguishable from <u>Swanson</u>, the statements that Culbertson relies upon establish Wells Fargo's discretion, and reinforces the at-will relationship.

And, the most significant distinguishable fact from Swanson is that there is a conspicuous disclaimer contained in Wells Fargo's Handbook. A conspicuous disclaimer that is effectively communicated to the employee, which is not negated by later inconsistent representations, can disclaim as a matter of law what might otherwise appear to be enforceable promises in handbooks or similar documents. Quedado v. Boeing Co., 168 Wn.App. 363, 374, 276 P.3d 365 (2012) [citing Swanson]. The Swanson court recognized, as Division III found here, that "in some circumstances it may be possible to determine the effect of a disclaimer as a matter of law." Swanson, 118 Wn.2d at 528; see also, Nelson v. Southland Corp., 78 Wn.App. 25, 33, 894 P.2d 1385 (1995) ("[a]s a matter of law, by including the disclaimers within the very policies and procedures at issue, Southland provided Mrs. Nelson with reasonable notice it did not intend to be bound by them. In addition, the disclaimers were effective as a matter of law."). Therefore, the decision is not in conflict with the fact-specific holding of Swanson.

Similarly, the undisputed facts in this case are drastically different than those in <u>Korslund</u>. <u>Korslund</u> involved three employees who reported safety violations, mismanagement, and fraud, who then alleged retaliation by their supervisors; those supervisors were never disciplined, despite a policy requiring such discipline.

Because the employer had a policy that mandated nondiscretionary disciplinary action in that specific circumstance, the court held that there was an issue of fact whether the employer made promises of specific treatment. The court distinguished its facts with those of <u>Stewart v. Chevron Chemical Company</u>, 111 Wn.2d 609, 762 P.2d 1143 (1988), in which the court held that a termination policy stating that management "should" consider certain factors in layoff decisions was too indefinite to create an obligation. <u>Korslund</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 190. Furthermore, there was no discussion in <u>Korslund</u> concerning any conspicuous disclaimers in the employer's policy documents.

As a result, the facts of <u>Korslund</u>, like <u>Swanson</u>, are directly opposite to the facts and relevant language of the Wells Fargo Handbook; Wells Fargo always retained the ultimate discretion on terminating employees, and applying its policies, and the Handbook did not have any mandatory language. <u>See</u> the Decision, pg. 8.

Lastly, Culbertson contends that the decision is in error because it failed to cite to any of the general policy language that Culbertson believes contains specific promises of specific treatment. However, the decision did not have to burdensomely recite to general non-binding Handbook language because such language is exactly the type that Washington courts find to be general policy statements that are not binding on an employer and do not create a claim. See e.g., Quedado, 168 Wn.App at 370-71 [citing Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 229-231, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984)]. Even Swanson and Korslund acknowledge the Washington legal principal that "general statements of company policy do not constitute promises of specific treatment in specific situations." Korslund, 156 Wn.2d at 190; Swanson 118 Wn.2d at 521-522.

Here, the Handbook's general and discretionary policy statements are not enough to survive summary judgment, and the decision was not in conflict with any existing law as required under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

2. The decision that Wells Fargo properly unilaterally modified Culbertson's at-will compensation is in harmony with Washington law.

The Court of Appeals properly, and in accord with existing Washington law, affirmed the summary judgment dismissal of Culbertson's breach of contract and corresponding wage claims. Nonetheless Culbertson ignores undisputed facts regarding Wells Fargo's unilateral modification of Culbertson's at-will employment compensation terms, and the circumstances of Culbertson's execution of the 2010 TSA to claim that his signature on "Appendix A" to the January 1, 2010, and October 1, 2011 comp plans, somehow created bilateral contracts regarding the terms of his compensation, which could not thereafter be unilaterally modified.

However, in applying relevant Washington law to the undisputed facts, such as <u>Duncan v. Alaska USA Fed. Credit Union</u>, Inc., 148 Wn.App. 52, 199 P.3d 991 (2008), the Court of Appeals correctly came to the conclusion that: "the at-will employment relationship still permitted Wells Fargo to unilaterally change the terms of employment," and that Wells Fargo made all payments owing under the 2013 comp plan. <u>See</u> the Decision, pgs. 9, 11.

Culbertson claims that the Court of Appeals improperly used the <u>Duncan</u> case to support its holding. However, <u>Duncan</u> stands for the wellestablished law that an at-will employee's employment terms and conditions, including compensation, can be unilaterally modified by the employer at any time during the employment relationship with reasonable notice to the employee. <u>Duncan</u>, 148 Wn.App. at 73; <u>see also, Govier v.</u> <u>North Sound Bank</u>, 91 Wn.App. 493, 494, 957 P.2d 811 (1998). This principal was initially articulated in <u>Thompson v. St. Regis</u> <u>Paper Co.</u>, 102 Wn.2d 219, 229, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984), in which the Supreme Court declared as a "rule" that in an at-will employment relationship, an employer can modify the terms of compensation with reasonable notice, and an employee must either accept the changes, quit, or be discharged. <u>Thompson</u>, 102 Wn.2d at 229.

In <u>Duncan</u>, the court affirmed the <u>Thompson</u> rule and held that the employee's compensation "agreement was properly modified because the agreement was a unilateral contract, which was terminable at-will." <u>Duncan</u>, 148 Wn.App. at 78. Here, just like <u>Duncan</u>, it is factually undisputed that: (i) Culbertson was at all times at-will; (ii) Wells Fargo modified Culbertson's compensation terms; (iii) Culbertson received actual notice of the modification; and (iv) Culbertson has been paid all amounts due under the modification.

Furthermore, just as with the facts of <u>Duncan</u>, here there is no "evidence any exchange [of] reciprocal promises, a requirement for a bilateral contract." <u>Duncan</u>, 148 Wn.App. at 74. Culbertson's signatures on Appendix A to the compensation plans in 2009, and in 2011, did not create bilateral contracts on compensation terms, and did not preclude future modifications by Wells Fargo upon reasonable notice. Even the compensation plan documents that Culberson signed directly acknowledged those facts: "[t]he provisions of the WFIS Producer Plan will be applied and the Participant will be paid in accordance with the terms even if the Participant does not sign Appendix A." (CP 9, 565, 570)

Moreover, Culbertson is incorrect that the decision is in conflict with three cases: <u>Flower v. TRA Industries, Inc.</u>, 127 Wn.App. 13, 111 P.3d 1192 (2005), <u>Ebling v. Gove's Cove, Inc.</u>, 34 Wn.App. 495, 663 P.2d 132 (1983), and <u>Warner v. Channell Chemical Co.</u>, 121 Wash 237, 208 P. 1104 (1922).

First, <u>Flower</u> involved a plaintiff who promised to accept an offer of employment, sell his home in another city and relocate, but only if his employer promised to terminate him only for-cause; based on those very specific facts, the court concluded that the exchange of these promises constituted a bilateral employment contract. Because the parties made the original mutually binding exchange of promises, the court found that a later attempt by the employer to change the employment structure to an atwill relationship did not rescind the employer's obligation to terminate only for-cause. This case holding has absolutely no bearing on Culbertson's at-will employment relationship, and the unilateral modification of its compensation terms by Wells Fargo.

Similarly, <u>Ebling</u> concerned an employer who promised to pay an employee a specific commission percentage, but only if the employee

accepted a transfer to manage a different office; the employee accepted and the employer thereafter attempted to unilaterally modify to reduce the agreed-upon commission rate. <u>Ebling</u>, 34 Wn.App. at 497. The court found that the agreement for the employee to transfer positions in return for a specific commission rate was a bilateral contract. <u>Id</u>. at 498–99.

In stark contrast with the facts of these cases, there was never a bilateral employment contract created between Wells Fargo and Culbertson regarding the terms of his employment, including his compensation. Regardless, as the decision noted, "even if the parties in 2010 had a bilateral compensation agreement, the continued existence of the at-will employment relationship still permitted Wells Fargo to unilaterally change the terms of employment." <u>See</u> the Decision, p. 11.

Furthermore, <u>Ebling</u> was specifically distinguished in <u>Duncan</u> because of the at-will nature of the employment agreement:

[s]ignificantly, the court [in <u>Ebling</u>] did not address the question of unilateral contracts that are terminable at will. Nowhere in that opinion is there any indication that the question was even argued. Rather, the employer in that case unsuccessfully argued that Ebling was an independent contractor. In short, that court's conclusion that there was a bilateral contract, without more, does not affect our determination here that the 2003 agreement between these parties was a unilateral contract.

Duncan, 148 Wn.App. at 75.

Finally, the decision does not effectively overrule the <u>Warner</u> case as Culbertson contends. That is because <u>Warner</u>, like <u>Flower</u>, did not involve the unilateral modification of an at-will employee's compensation terms. Instead <u>Warner</u>, (from the year 1922, which pre-dates <u>Thompson</u> and its progeny), involved a specific employment contract whereby the employer employed a salesman for a specific period of time (duration), for specific commission rates, and the contract had express terms and conditions on why and how it could be terminated. Those facts are completely different than the facts of our case.

Thus, <u>Flower</u>, <u>Ebling</u> and <u>Warner</u> create no precedent here, and do not conflict with the decision of this at-will employment case.

3. The Court of Appeals' refusal to apply judicial estoppel is not in conflict with any existing Washington case.

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